
 

 

Please ask for Amanda Taylor: Telephone 01775 764837  

e-mail: amandataylor@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 

 

Committee - CABINET 

 

Date & Time - Tuesday, 4 September 2012 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding 

 
 

Membership of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader of the Council), C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the 
Council), P S Przyszlak (Deputy Leader), M G Chandler, R Gambba-Jones, H R Johnson, 
C J Lawton and G J Taylor. 
 
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 4. 
 

Note:  Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.   
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

 
 
Member Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   24 August 2012 
 



A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence  

 
 

2.  Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 24 July 2012 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
1 - 12) 

3.  Members' Interests -  
 
(Members are no longer required to declare personal or prejudicial 
interests but are to declare any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interests that 
are not currently included in their Register of Interests. 
 
Members are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not to 
participate in the whole of an agenda item to which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  In the interests of transparency, 
members may also wish to declare any other interests that they have, in 
relation to an agenda item, that supports the Nolan principles detailed 
within the Code of Conduct.) 
 

 

4.  Questions raised by the public under Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4  
 

 

5.  To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in  
 

 

6.  To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules  
 

 

7.  Spalding Town Centre Christmas lights - To approve the release of £xx 
from the Thornfields/Springfields S106 fund for the provision of new 
Christmas lights for Spalding Town Centre.  (Joint report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Development and Strategic Planning and the 
Economic Development Manager enclosed.) 
 

(Pages 
13 - 48) 

8.  Financial Performance Quarter 1 2012-13 - This report provides 
information on the forecast full year financial position of the Council as 
at 30 June 2012.  (Joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Finance and Democratic Services and the Assistant Director Finance 
(S151) enclosed.) 
 

(Pages 
49 - 62) 

9.  Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent -  
 
Note:  (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 
(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 

be dealt with in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16 of 
the Constitution’s Access to Information Procedure 
Rules. 

 



10.  To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act  
 

 

11.  Solar Photovoltaic Systems for Council House Stock - To consider the 
feasibility of installing solar PV systems to the Council’s housing stock.  
(Joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing Landlord and Interim 
Housing Manager enclosed.) 

(Pages 
63 - 80) 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 11 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 24 July 2012 at 6.30 pm. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
G A Porter (Leader of the Council) 

 
M G Chandler 
R Gambba-Jones 
 

H R Johnson 
C J Lawton 
 

P S Przyszlak (Deputy 
Leader) 
 

Junior Portfolio Holders:  
 

R Grocock and A R Woolf. 

Chief Executive, Assistant Director Democratic Services, Assistant Director Finance 
(S151), Assistant Director Commissioning, Benefit Supervisor (Compass Point 
Business Services (East Coast) Ltd) and Member Services Officer (Cabinet). 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G J Taylor, 
C N Worth, A M Newton and A Puttick, together with Councillor Reg Boot (Parish 
Councils), Ladey Adey (Lincolnshire Citizens Advice Bureau), Lisa Barwell (South 
Holland Citizens Advice Bureau) and Holbeach Seniors Link. 
 
In Attendance:  Councillors B Alcock and R Perkins, Business Development 
Manager, Joint Communications Team Leader and the Press. 
 
Community Representatives:  Jason Rooke (Business Organisations) 
 

13. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2012 were signed by the Leader as a 
correct record. 
 

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
In relation to agenda items 6a (Final Report of the Community Interest and other 
Local Authority Companies Task Group) and 6b (Final Report of the Red Lion 
Quarter Task Group), Councillors H R Johnson and P S Przyszlak declared that they 
were Directors of the Red Lion Quarter Community Interest Company.  
 
In relation to agenda item 6a (Final Report of the Community Interest and other Local 
Authority Companies Task Group), Cllr Chandler, declared that he was a Director of 
the South Holland Housing Company.   
 

15. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER CABINET PROCEDURE RULE 2.4  
 
No questions were raised by the public under Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4. 
 

16. MATTERS SUBJECT TO CALL-IN  
 
There were no matters subject to call-in. 
 

Agenda Item 2.

Page 1



- 12 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

17. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING PANELS  
 
a) Final Report of the Community Interest and other Local Authority Companies 
Task Group 
 
Consideration was given to the final report of the Community Interest and other Local 
Authority Companies Task Group containing recommendations which had been 
approved by the Performance Monitoring Panel. 
 
The appendices to the final report of the Community Interest and other Local 
Authority Companies Task Group, Appendix A (Background note on companies) and 
Appendix B (Guidance on governance of community interest companies), were 
tabled at the meeting. 
 
The Chairman of the Task Group, Councillor B Alcock, presented the 
recommendations to the Cabinet.   
 
The Leader referred to the recommendation regarding the Housing Company and 
advised that a meeting had not been held as the national policy was currently in a 
state of flux.  Inevitably a decision would need to be made as to whether the 
company would continue to run or not.  He added that the Company had nine 
directors which was not extraordinarily large for a company of that nature.   
 
Members noted the recommendation regarding remuneration for directors.  The 
Leader referred to Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Limited and 
advised that the company was owned jointly with East Lindsey District Council and 
therefore there could be circumstances of some directors receiving more than others. 
 
The Leader referred to the recommendation regarding an annual meeting of a 
company being held prior to Annual Council and requested clarity that this would not 
be the actually annual general meeting of the company, which would have to 
consider certain items within that meeting.  Councillor Alcock confirmed that the Task 
Group had recommended a meeting to be held annually prior to Annual Council to 
discuss accounts, position of the company, etc, which would not be an annual 
general meeting.  A closed shareholders meeting to enable shareholders to 
challenge and question the company.  The Leader suggested that a standing item 
could also be added to the Annual Council agenda in order to receive feedback from 
any such meeting.   
 
DECISION: 
 
The following recommendations were specifically divided, regarding the companies 
considered, as part of the report and generic recommendations regarding South 
Holland District Council’s approach to setting up companies in future: 
 
a) That where an alternative form of delivery was to be considered as a possible 

means of achieving Council outcomes it was recommended that an outline 
business case be prepared which covered all of the following areas: 

Page 2



- 13 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

(i)  Clearly define what council outcomes were to be achieved; 
(ii)  Consider all options including in house, out sourced and companies; 
(iii)  What were the relative strengths and weaknesses of each in this context; 
(iv)  Consider the risks involved within each option; and 
(v)  Decide upon the most appropriate vehicle and set out the reasons for that 

choice. 
 
b) That where a company form was the chosen method of delivery the following 

template should be followed as good practice: 
 

(i)  Commence consideration and debate early enough to give sufficient time 
for all stages of development; 

(ii)  Involve members at all stages from preparation of the outline business 
case onwards; 

(iii)  Take account of the advice within BIS guidance notes; 
(iv)  Clearly set out what the company was expected to deliver; 
(v)  Create specific Articles of Association for the particular company to ensure 

the outcomes could be achieved; 
(vi)  Set how and when the company would report to the Council; and 
(vii)  Where another party was to be a shareholder ensure that agreement was 

reached with that party and was recorded in respect of the above points. 
 
c) That where a company form was the chosen method of delivery full Council 

consider the following: 
 

(i)  What was the political and reputational risk should the company fail; 
(ii)  Was this acceptable to Council; 
(iii)  What were the tangible benefits over alternative methods of delivery; 
(iv)  Who were to be the shareholders; 
(v)  Who would be the stakeholders; 
(vi)  How would councillors receive information concerning the company; 
(vii)  Who would appoint Directors (there was a presumption that shareholders 

would do so unless another reason was relevant); and 
(viii)  Was remuneration for Directors appropriate and if so at what level. 
 
d) That where a company was to be created the following procedures be followed: 
 

(i)  Appoint Directors and Company Secretary in a timely manner;   
(ii)  Consider recruiting independent Directors; 
(iii)  Ensure Directors were aware of their roles and responsibilities prior to 

confirmation of appointment; 
(iv)  Provide a program of training for Directors on the roles and responsibilities 

as well on the Articles of Association before the company became 
operational; 

(v)  Ensure the reporting procedures were clearly defined before the company 
became operational; 

(vi)  Ensure there was capacity to accommodate change notifications where 
council services were delivered; and 

(vii)  Wherever possible avoid interim management arrangements. 

Page 3



- 14 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

e) That when a company was operational matters concerning delivery of a service 
be channelled through the appropriate Council Director who was the point of 
contact for councillors; 

 
f) That reporting on performance of a service to the Council be done through a 

quarterly Performance Monitoring Report.  Any concerns from individual 
councillors should be raised with the relevant Council Director above; 

 
g) That a post of Shareholders Representative be created in respect of each 

company formed with the terms of reference for that position determined by full 
Council.  (The intention of the role was to be the conduit between the Council 
and the company and between the company and the Council); 

 
h) That a meeting of each company be convened, on a annual basis, during the 

month preceding Annual Council.  Attendees; Directors, Secretary, Manager, 
Shareholders Representative and councillors in their role as part of the 
Corporate Shareholding / Stakeholders; 

 
i) That the purpose of that annual meeting be: 
 

(i)  To review the Company activities during the preceding year; 
(ii)  To receive an up to date financial statement; 
(iii)  To review the Directors performance and position; 
(iv)  To consider any policy or directional changes and to make 

recommendations to the Board; and 
(v)  To consider a report to be made public on the companies activities during 

the year. 
 
j) That where a company had other shareholders, South Holland District Council 

hold an annual meeting prior to that company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
to discuss the matters mentioned above to reach a common approach for the 
Council within the AGM of that company; 

 
k) That in the case of Compass Point Business Services, a mechanism for regular 

dialogue between the shareholders (South Holland District Council and East 
Lindsey District Council) be put in place, with the intention of reaching (as far as 
possible) agreement on a common approach within the company AGM.  This 
may be through the shareholder’s representative, subject to the terms of 
reference for that position; 

 
l) That members and officers periodically receive training regarding companies, 

company law, the roles and responsibilities of Directors, shareholders and 
stakeholders; 

 
m) That a report on the future intentions for South Holland Local Housing Company 

be prepared and reviewed by full Council; 
 
n) That it be suggested to Compass Point Business Services that their Articles of 

Association be amended to accommodate: 

Page 4



- 15 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

(i)  The Directors had the opportunity to receive remuneration from the 
company the amount of which was “reasonable”; 

(ii)  The Chair of the Board had the opportunity to hold the post for longer than 
one year; and 

(iii)  That the Company hold a closed AGM, during the month prior to Council 
AGM, to which Councillors in their role as stakeholders be invited. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendations with amendments; and  

• Not to approve the recommendations.  
Reason for decision: 

• The report and its recommendations would be taken on board to improve 
processes and procedures in the future, as identified; and 

• The timelines for implementation of the recommendations would be 
considered and monitored by the Panel.)  

 
b) Final Report of the Red Lion Quarter Task Group 
 
Consideration was given to the final report of the Red Lion Quarter Task Group 
containing recommendations which had been approved by the Performance 
Monitoring Panel. 
 
The Chairman of the Task Group, Councillor B Alcock, presented the 
recommendations to the Cabinet.   
 
On behalf of the Cabinet, the Leader thanked the Task Group for the work they had 
carried out and for providing such an in depth report.  The Chief Executive reported 
that the Deputy Chief Executive had produced an action plan based on the original 
recommendations which, following the Cabinet’s decision, would be amended with a 
view to regularly reporting to the Performance Monitoring Panel. 
 
Jason Rooke (Business Organisations) thanked the Task Group for the report.  He 
queried whether members were confident that lessons would be learnt from the 
mistakes which had been made.  The Leader stated that overall the project had been 
a huge success as a dilapidated part of the town centre had been regenerated and 
post 16 education had been brought back in to the area.  Councillor Alcock pointed 
out that the main issues had surrounded the management of the shop and the letting 
of the business units.  Members noted that arrangements for the Red Lion Quarter 
were still being finalised.   
 
DECISION: 
 
The Task Group was of the opinion that it was vitally important that the 
recommendations be received and fully considered and accepted and they are 
reproduced in their entirety for that reason: 
 

Page 5



- 16 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

Feasibility Study and Business Plans 
 
a) That the Council adopt a policy requiring any business plans, feasibility studies 

or like documents, together with subsequent revisions, to be independently 
stress tested by professionally qualified persons, which should be built into 
the project management system, ensuring that responsibilities were clear;  

 
b) That Overview and Scrutiny be encouraged to review feasibility studies and 

business plans for significant projects; and 
 
c) That both of the above recommendations be implemented at the early stages of 

any major project as well as prior to the letting of any contract. 
 
South Holland District Council Management and Staff 
 
a) That the roles of senior management and of the Senior Management Team be 

clarified and processes introduced and documented to ensure clarity of 
responsibility;  

 
b) That the clarified roles of senior management ensure there was a process for 

information to flow both up and down with appropriate checks within the system; 
and 

 
c) That management structures and processes be adhered to.  Members should 

not encourage staff to do otherwise and should ensure that appropriate 
managers be kept informed of any issues that endanger this. 

 
The Project Board 
 
a) That all project boards and similar groups be made clear of their terms of 

reference, reporting procedures and expected outcomes; 
 

b) That the terms of reference of project boards and similar groups be carefully 
considered at the time they are established; 
 

c) That individuals appointed to project boards and similar groups, unless 
otherwise advised, be individually and collectively responsible for the project 
and should be expected to attend meetings on a regular basis; and 

 
d) That upon the formation of  project boards and similar groups a Director or 

appropriate Manager should ensure that all members were clear on their roles 
and responsibilities. 

 
Project Management and Risks 
 
a) That the Senior Management Team ensure that a review of project 

management be undertaken to address the issues highlighted and that reviews 
be regularly undertaken thereafter to ensure they remained effective.  In 
particular, the systems should be smart enough to ensure that the correct 
information was being reported; 
 

Page 6



- 17 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

b) That robust project management be introduced for any new social enterprise 
companies that may be established by the Council; 

 
c) That on establishing any new project board the project management tools and 

processes to be used be defined; 
 

d) That the Senior Management Team review its systems and processes to ensure 
that they identify changes to legislation affecting the work of the Council; and 
 

e) That the Senior Management Team ensure there was training and awareness 
for appropriate staff and members on the importance of project management 
and on the corporate systems in use. 

 
Design and Construction 
 
a) That it be ensured that design, layout and planning issues be resolved well 

before projects were committed to start; and 
 

b) That, where appropriate, local expertise relating to a project be consulted. 
 
Community Interest Company Directors and Board of Directors 
 
a) That if the Council should in future establish a company of a similar nature it 

should: 
 

• Ensure that there was clarity over the roles and responsibilities of directors 
before recruitment and they were made aware of them; 

 

• Recruit directors in a timely manner to ensure the full Board took 
responsibility for the operations of the company; 

 

• Provide training and guidance to the directors on their roles and 
responsibilities and on the company’s Articles of Association before the 
company became operational; 

 

• Ensure the reporting procedures were clearly defined before the company 
became operational; and 

 

• Ensure that the constitution of the company also addressed those issues. 
 
Community Interest Company Employees 
 
a) That in future, at the time that a project was proposed to be handed over to 

another body to manage there should be a full assessment of outstanding 
issues/position statement to enable the receiving company to quickly assess the 
situation and decide whether to accept it.  It should be clearly established how 
outstanding matters were to be resolved, by whom and within what time frame; 

 

Page 7



- 18 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

b) That the process for recruiting staff, including management, should in future be 
robust and timely and built into project plans; and 
 

c) That careful consideration be given before appointing permanent staff through a 
company, including consideration of the tax and moral aspects. 

 
Finance 
 
a) That the future spending of Section 106 money should be considered as equally 

important as any other fund;  
 

b) That an internal audit should be undertaken of the effectiveness of the financial 
management system for monitoring project spend against budget and how 
managers were using the system; 
 

c) That in consultation with Compass Point Business Services systems must be 
created prior to expenditure on a similar project to ensure that not only headline 
expenses were able to be easily interrogated, at any time, but also sub 
headings; and 
 

d) That all future CIC or similar projects be adequately financially resourced. 
 
Leases – Community Interest Company and Boston College 
 
a) That unless there were compelling overriding circumstances, occupation of any 

property should not be given unless the appropriate lease or sale had been 
completed; 

 
b) That in future, any consideration to allow occupation of premises prior to the 

completion of lease formalities should be accompanied with a documented risk 
analysis.  Clear responsibilities for action should be documented together with a 
time line for achieving the agreed results; and 

 
c) That all such matters be resolved before handing over to a CIC or similar 

organisation. 
 
Governance 
 
a) That the Senior Management Team review the Council's governance 

arrangements and make recommendations as to how potential issues could be 
highlighted in future, including bringing issues to the attention of: 

• The Performance Monitoring Panel;  

• The Policy Development Panel; 

• The Governance & Audit Committee; 

• The Senior Management Team;  

• The Chief Executive;   

• The Monitoring Officer; and  

• The Section 151 Officer. 
 

Page 8



- 19 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

b) That Overview and Scrutiny be requested to examine future projects including 
business plans and feasibility studies at an early stage as well as following 
receipt of subsequent versions and when amendments were made. 

 
Boston College 
 
a) That a satisfactory risk assessment process be introduced to ensure the Council 

was made aware of the consequences of potential risks before it was too late to 
avoid the consequences; and 

 
b) That the responsibility for ensuring this was carried out in all circumstances be 

clearly identified and recorded. 
 
Letting of Commercial Units 
 
a) That in future the Council critically examine the structure of any company that it 

was proposed to establish to ensure that the management was both effective 
and efficient and adequate support was provided; and 

 
b) That should issues remain to be resolved, when handing responsibility over to a 

company, the Council should ensure that the company was adequately 
resourced and funded to finalise outstanding matters, agree a time line and 
monitor progress. 

 
Marketing 
 
That in similar circumstances the Council must ensure that a satisfactory and credible 
marketing plan was in place.  Such proposals should be subject to scrutiny. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendations with amendments; and  

• Not to approve the recommendations.  
Reason for decision: 

• The report and its recommendations would be taken on board to improve 
processes and procedures in the future, as identified; and 

• The timelines for implementation of the recommendations would be 
considered and monitored by the Panel.)  

 
18. REFRESH OF CORPORATE PLAN FOR 2012/13  

 
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Internal 
Services, Performance and Business Development and the Assistant Director 
Democratic Services which sought approval of proposed updates to the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2011-2015. 
 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 
That the proposed updates to the Corporate Plan 2011-2015 be approved.   
 

Page 9



- 20 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendations with amendments; and  

• Not to approve the recommendations.  
Reason for decision: 

• Under each Corporate Priority within the plan we outlined ‘Our particular focus 
in x year – x year will be to:’, these sections required updating annually.)  

 
19. CCTV SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS  

 
This item was deferred for consideration at a future Cabinet meting. 
 

20. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME  
 
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Internal 
Services, Performance and Business Development, the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Finance and Democratic Services and the Assistant Director of Commissioning which 
sought approval to undertake formal consultation on a draft council tax support 
scheme.  Furthermore, it requested that delegated authority be given to the Leader of 
the Council and the Chief Executive to formally agree the draft scheme prior to its 
publication. 
 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones advised that it would be appropriate to consult with 
Parish Councils on the matter prior to their precepts being finalised.  The Chief 
Executive stated that as soon as things became clearer a meeting would be 
organised at the Council Offices to enable the Parish Councils to discuss the matter. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) That the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive be given delegated 

authority to determine the draft council tax support scheme for consultation;  
 
b) That the draft council tax support scheme be published for consultation, in order 

to meet the statutory timetable to approve a final scheme before the end of 
January 2013; and 

 
c) That once arrangements became clearer a meeting would be organised at the 

Council Offices to enable the Parish Councils discuss the matter. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendations with amendments;  

• Not to approve the recommendations; and 

• To undertake consultation on a draft council tax support scheme that made 
savings through new support arrangements and generated income through 
appropriate technical changes in council tax collection.  

Reason for decision: 

• To do nothing would have the effect of invoking the Government’s default 
statutory scheme and as a result, the precepting authorities would bear the full 
cost of the grant reduction.  This was, therefore, not deemed to be an 
appropriate option; and 

Page 10



- 21 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

• The approach outlined above and in the appendices within the report would, 
where possible, use appropriate technical changes to fill the funding gap but 
would also consider savings that could be made by changing levels of support, 
e.g. capping entitlement.) 

 
21. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
DECISION: 
 
That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Part 
I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

22. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES UNIT (CSU) PROPOSED RESTRUCTURE  
 
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing 
Landlord and the Interim Housing Manager which sought approval to proceed with 
the proposed Construction Services Unit (CSU) restructure. 
 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 
That approval be given to proceed with the proposed CSU restructure. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• To approve the recommendations with amendments; and 

• Not to approve the recommendations.  
Reason for decision: 

• The proposals would demonstrate greater value for money and produce 
significant financial savings for the HRA; 

• To reduce the expenditure of the CSU so that its expenditure was in line with 
its productivity and performance; and 

• To increase the skill set of operatives.  Where required, the operatives would 
have to undergo multi skill training to NVQ standard. This would mean that the 
CSU would be equipped with a flexible workforce.) 

 
(The meeting ended at 7.22 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 

Page 11



- 22 - 
 

CABINET - 24 July 2012 
 

 

These minutes are published on Friday 27 July 2012.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 6 August 2012 (i.e. after 
the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless 
during that period a notice which is signed by at least one member of the Council and 
complies with the requirements of Rules 15(b), (c) and (d) of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules is served on the Assistant Director Democratic Services 
requesting that the decision be called-in and the Assistant Director Democratic 
Services approves the request for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly 
be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed. 
 
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately. 
 
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 1 August 2012. 

Page 12



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Strategic 

Planning and the Economic Development Manager 
 
To:    Cabinet – 4 September 2012 
 
(Author:  Nigel Burch, Senior Economic Development Officer) 
 
Subject: Spalding Town Centre Christmas lights 
 
Purpose: To approve the release of £xx from the Thornfields/Springfields 

S106 fund for the provision of new Christmas lights for Spalding 
Town Centre 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Funding for the Christmas lights in Spalding Town Centre and the Crescent 

have been provided by Spalding Town Forum with administration carried out by 
the Economic Development Department at South Holland District Council, and 
installation by Eon. A Christmas tree has been provided for the last two years 
by Baytree Nurseries and the transport and erecting of the tree has been 
carried out by SHDC staff. 

 
1.2 Spalding and District Chamber of Commerce have expressed an interest in 

taking on the responsibility of the Christmas lights, and have put together 
designs and costs for replacement lights, as well as identifying all other current 
issues around the fixing and storage of the lights. 

 
1.3  It is generally accepted that the existing lights are old and well past their best. 

The Christmas   tree lights in particular are looking very sad. The total cost of 
installing the existing lights for Christmas 2012 will be just over £11,000, but not 
all the lights are working, the tungsten bulbs used in these lights are now very 
difficult to replace. No financial accrual has been made for replacement lights. 

 

Recommendations: 
 
a) That £72,700 be released from the Thornfields/Springfields fund for 

replacement Christmas lights; and 
 
b) That responsibility for the lights be passed over to Spalding and District 

Chamber of Commerce with an appropriate Service Level Agreement in 
place. 

Agenda Item 7.

Page 13



1.4  Current issues include: 
 Existing lights are expensive and becoming impossible to replace 
 No charge has been made for the electricity used by the National Grid 
 No wayleave agreements exist with landlords for fixings 
 No tension certificates have been obtained for the fixings 

There are no plans for the layout of the lights, they are left to the discretion of 
one Eon employee who puts them up each year. 
The existing lights are stored in two metal containers outside the Castle Sports 
Centre. These containers are damp and not conducive to the safe storage of 
electrical equipment.   
The Town Forums budget for the financial year 2012/13 is £16,000 for lights, to 
include repairs, maintenance, erection, take down and storage. The Chamber of 
Commerce have spoken to Nigel Wallace at Baytree Nurseries and they have 
confirmed they will donate a tree again this year, but a better way needs to be 
found of protecting the tree rather than the metal crash barriers that are 
normally used. 

 
1.5 Spalding Chamber of Commerce have to date, ascertained the current state of 

the Christmas lights and presented a list of issues to be resolved to the Town 
Forum. They have met with two major suppliers in the UK and have spent time 
walking around the town and negotiating prices to produce the figures below. 
The procurement of the lights would need to come from the S106 fund but the 
Chamber are prepared to take on the role of contact with the supplier each year 
under a Service Level Agreement of 10% of the VAT exclusive payments. 

 
 
1.6 Two suppliers have been identified, Blachere Illumination UK and The Festive 

Lighting Company.  Blachere are the largest supplier of Christmas and festive 
lighting with an international reputation. They pride themselves on their high 
standards of customer service, quality of product and energy efficiency.  They 
have displays in many towns and cities in the UK, plus many in Europe 
including Paris and Rome. Festive Lighting have had 12 years working with 
Christmas Lighting schemes for town and city centres and are now firmly 
established as one of the UK’s leading companies in this field. Successful 
installations in major locations such as Edinburgh, Cardiff, Birmingham and 
Torbay have given them a reputation for high quality products and workmanship 
as well as an after sales service they believe is second to none. 

 
1.7 The Chambers proposal is that Spalding town centre will feature lights in the 

same positions as last year but the lights will be LED, the features will all be 
new, and they will be compliant. The areas with lights will include Bridge Street, 
Market Place, Hall Place, Red Lion Street, New Road, Pied Calf yard, Sheep 
Market, Station Street, the Crescent and passage. Prior to erecting the lights, 
Blachere will undertake pre-installation work. This will involve testing all fixings, 
whether on buildings or lampposts. Where necessary, fixings will be replaced to 
ensure that they are tension certificate compliant. All electrical connections and 
time switches will be checked and brought up to legal standard. All lights are 
LED and therefore low maintenance and low energy consumption. They will 
give a warm white glow and the design will be consistent throughout the town. 

Page 14



1.8 Two of the trees in the middle of the market place will be dressed with 
Sparklight which give a pure white twinkle effect whilst the Crescent and 
passage will have icicle lights in zigzag runs. Baytree has again agreed to 
donate a Christmas tree which will be festooned with new LED lights. It is 
intended to site the tree in one of the planters outside Boots. This will raise the 
base of the tree approx 1 metre from the ground, the planter will have a wooden 
fence to add to their height in an attempt to deter those that would wish to climb 
it. 

 
1.9 The lights will be erected in November and this year the switch on will take on 

Saturday 2nd     December as part of the Christmas festival organised by the 
Chamber of Commerce. In January the lights will be taken down  and removed 
to Blachere’s warehouse where they will be checked over and any maintenance 
carried out before being stored until Christmas 2013. Should any of the lights 
fail during December, Blachere will respond within 24 hours, however, 4 -6 
hours is more typical to effect repairs. The riverbank has previously had lights 
along the part near the town centre. These will be replaced with 13 tulip motifs 
in green and red LED lights on the lamp posts along Double Street, Bridge 
Street and London Road. The proposal is that these lights will remain in place 
throughout the year. Again, prior to installation, the fixings and electrical 
connections will be tested and brought up to legal standard. There will be a 
requirement to carry out annual maintenance, and this cost is included. This 
display will be provided by Festive Lighting. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Option 1  Proceed with the Town Forums recommendation that £xxx be 

released from the Thornfields S 106 fund to purchase new lights for the same 
areas as previous, plus the purchase of new lights for the riverside to stay in 
place throughout the year. All installation and connection points will be tested 
and certified, and lights will be removed to the supplier for repairs, maintenance 
and storage. 

 
2.2 Option 2    Do nothing, i.e. continue with current set up which is subject to all 

the problems listed above under 1.4 
 
3.0     REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 Spalding Town Forum in conjunction with Spalding and District Chamber of 

Commerce have   approved this proposal and have agreed to put forward their 
annual Christmas lights contribution in for the next three years. 

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES 
 
4.1 The benefits to be derived from this project are twofold. Firstly, Spalding Town 

centre and riverside will be much enhanced for the next few years at Christmas 
time, giving a much more festive feel for shoppers, thus giving town centre 
businesses a much needed boost. 

 There will also be a freeing up of resources as this function was previously 
carried out from within the Economic Development team. 

Page 15



5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint and Environmental issues 
 
5.1.1 The carbon footprint of Spalding’s Christmas lights will be reduced as the LED’s 

proposed for the new display are far more energy efficient than the existing 
tungsten bulbs. 

 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 In the opinion of the author there are no constitutional or legal implications 
 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 A service level agreement will be put in place between Spalding and District 

Chamber of Commerce and SHDC. 
 
5.4 Crime and Disorder 
 
5.4.1 There has, in the past, been a problem with certain individuals wishing to climb 

the Christmas tree, this new proposal will address this issue by siteing the tree 
in a planter thus raising the base of the tree by approximately 1 metre, the 
planter will then have a wooden fence on it to further add to the height, thus 
detracting those who wish to climb it. 

 
5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human  
 
5.5.1 In the opinion of the author there are no equality and diversity & human rights 

implications. 
 
5.6 Financial 
 
5.6.1 Cost for town centre to purchase with annual installation charges: £57,200. Cost 

for river bank to purchase with annual installation charges: £8,900.  Total 
charge £66,100. Chamber of Commerce management fee of 10% £6,600. Total 
requested £72,700. 

 
5.6.2 The recommendations will also see 3 annual payments of £16,000 from the 

Town Forum’s Christmas light budget returned to the S106 fund resulting in the 
net cost to the S106 fund at the end of year 3 being £24,700. 

 
5.7 Risk Management 
 
5.7.1 In the opinion of the author there is no risk attached to this recommendation as 

the management of the lights are being passed to Spalding and District 
Chamber of Commerce. 

 

Page 16



5.8 Staffing 
 
5.8.1 There is a positive staffing implication as this work will no longer be undertaken 

by the Economic Development team. 
 
5.9 Stakeholders/Consultation 
 
5.9.1 Stakeholders directly involved are the Spalding Town Forum and Spalding and 

District Chamber of Commerce. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 The ward directly affected is Spalding St Mary 
 ___________________________________________________________________  
 
Background papers:- None 
 ___________________________________________________________________  
 
Lead Contact Officer 
Nigel Burch Senior Economic Development Officer 
01775 764563 
nburch@sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision 
No 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A - Xmas lights powerpoint presentation 
Appendix B - Service level agreement 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 19



P
age 20



P
age 21



P
age 22



P
age 23



P
age 24



P
age 25



P
age 26



P
age 27



P
age 28



P
age 29



P
age 30



P
age 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



P
age 34



P
age 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



 Page 1 of 6  
Issue: 2  Issued: August 2012  

 

 

 

 

Service Contract                                                                                     
 

Reference Number:   Spalding 1
  

Title: Festive Lighting in Spalding Town Centre  

 

1. This Contract is made between  

 

1.1 Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce & Industry (Lincolnshire Chamber), a Company limited by guarantee, 

whose office is at;  

 

Commerce House 

Outer Circle Road 

Lincoln 

LN2 4HY 

 

and 
 
1.2 South Holland District Council (SHDC) (the client) 

 whose office is at; 
  

Council Offices 

Priory Road 

Spalding 

PE11 2XE 
 

 
2 Terms and Conditions 
 
2.1 Entire Contract  

 

Lincolnshire Chamber shall provide the Specified Service to the Client subject to these conditions. Lincolnshire 

Chamber and the Client must agree any changes or additions to the Specified Service or these conditions in 

writing. 

 

This contract is governed by English Law. 

 
2.2 Severability 

  

If any clause of this Contract is found by a court (or other competent authority) to be invalid or unenforceable, it 

will no longer form part of this Contract and the other clauses will continue to apply. Lincolnshire Chamber will 

then negotiate with the Client to agree the terms of another clause to replace the one that has been removed.  

 
2.3 Operative Period and Date of Contract 

 

This Contract shall take effect on signature of both parties. This Contract shall be valid until 31st January 2015 

or until it is terminate by either party in line with conditions below in paragraph 2.8.  

 

Page 43



 Page 2 of 6  
Issue: 2  Issued: August 2012  

 

 
2.4 Access and Information 

 

The Client shall at its own expense supply Lincolnshire Chamber with all necessary documents or other 

materials, and all necessary data or other information relating to the Specified Service, within sufficient time to 

enable Lincolnshire Chamber to provide the Specified Service in accordance with this Contract. The Client shall 

ensure the accuracy of all Material. 

 

 The Client shall grant the Contract Manager for Lincolnshire Chamber reasonable access to it’s offices, 

information and records to enable Lincolnshire Chamber to fulfil its obligations under this contract. Where 

access to premises is required the Client shall be responsible for ensuring Lincolnshire Chamber staff are 

made aware of all rules and regulations in force regarding the behaviour of staff. 

 

 The Client shall make any working space and facilities at its premises available as Lincolnshire Chamber may 

reasonably need to fulfil its obligations under this contract. The Client shall be required to ensure that 

Lincolnshire Chamber’s property is kept safe and secure while at the Clients premises. The Client shall also 

ensure that the appropriate staff are available to work with Lincolnshire Chamber for the performance of this 

contract. 

 
2.5 Advice 

 

 The Client will be responsible for assessing the recommendations and advice given by Lincolnshire Chamber 

and for any commercial decisions that it makes as a result of the said advice. 

 

 Whilst every care will be taken to ensure that the advice given is correct and of best practice Lincolnshire 

Chamber does not give any guarantee or warranty as to any advice or information given or accepts 

responsibility for any loss or damage, howsoever arising, occasioned by the implementation of such advice. 

 

 No liability whatsoever shall rest upon Lincolnshire Chamber if implementation of any advice would involve the 

use of patents or other intellectual property (including copyright) not held by you. In such circumstances you 

should seek legal advice of your own.  

 
2.6 Contract Management 

 

 For the Client, the Contract shall be managed by Nigel Burch or other such person who may be appointed in 
his or her place. Any change in the above named manager made during the period of this Contract shall be 

notified in writing to Lincolnshire Chamber.  
 

 For Lincolnshire Chamber, the Contract Manager shall be the President - Spalding and District Area Chamber 

of Commerce or other such person as Lincolnshire Chamber may at any time nominate in his or her place in 

which case Lincolnshire Chamber shall notify the Client in writing of the change of Contract Manager. The 

Contract Manager shall oversee the development of the contract and shall be the main point of contact. 

 
2.7 Force Majeure 

 

 Neither party shall be deemed in default of their obligations under this contract or shall be liable to the other to 

the extent that it is unable to perform all or any of its obligations under this contract by reason of fire, 

earthquake, flood, epidemic, accident, explosion, casualty, strike, lock-out, riot, civil disturbance, act of public 

enemy, natural catastrophe, embargo, war or act of God or any ordinance or law or any executive or judicial 

orders (whether imposed by a national, international or other public authority or by any national or international 

court or competent jurisdiction). 
 

Page 44



 Page 3 of 6  
Issue: 2  Issued: August 2012  

 
 
2.8 Termination 

 

 This Contract may be terminated by either party giving the other at least 21 days notice in writing without the 

need to give reason. In that event neither party shall have the right against the other arising out of or as a 

consequence of such termination, save that the termination shall not affect any prior rights either may have 

under this Contract. 

 

Either party may terminate this contract with immediate effect by serving a written notice on the other if; 

 

• An order is made or a valid resolution is passed for winding up either party; 
• Either party become insolvent or are not able to pay their debts as they become due; 
• Either party have any administrator, receiver or administrative receiver appointed over any of their assets; 
• Either party stops trading, or threaten to stop trading; 
• Either party has a bankruptcy order made against them; 
• Either party is convicted of a criminal offence; or 
• Either party is in serious breach. 

 
2.9 Notices 

 

 Any notice to be given under this contract shall be in writing and shall either be delivered personally or sent by 

first class recorded delivery post or telefax. The address for service on the Client shall be the Clients registered 

office. The address for service on Lincolnshire Chamber shall be the address given on this Contract. Any notice 

shall be deemed to be served, if delivered personally, at the time of delivery or, if sent by post, 48 hours after 

posting, or if sent by telefax, at the time of transmission.  

 
2.10 Confidentiality 

 

 The parties each undertake to keep secret and strictly confidential any information and data disclosed by the 

other, where such information and data has been so disclosed in confidence. The parties shall each only use 

such information and data for the purpose for which it was disclosed. Nothing in this clause shall prevent either 

party from disclosing information which they are required to disclose by judicial, administrative, governmental or 

regulatory process in connection with any action, suit, proceedings or claim or otherwise by applicable law. 
 
2.11 Payment  

 

 The Client shall pay to Lincolnshire Chamber the amounts detailed under paragraph 4 within 14 days from the 

date of Lincolnshire Chambers invoice.  

 

Lincolnshire Chamber reserves the right to charge interest on any overdue payment at the rate of 5% over the 

Bank of England’s Base Rate. 

 

 Where the services provided by Lincolnshire Chamber are completed in connection with an application for 

funding, the Client shall agree that the fees (as detailed under paragraph 4) shall be payable for work 

completed and shall not be considered to be related to the success or otherwise of any subsequent funding 

application, except where a success fee is specified.  

 

In the event that this contract is terminated in accordance with its terms at any time before completion of the 

contract the client agrees that fees for work undertaken up to the point of termination shall be payable.   

 
 

Page 45



 Page 4 of 6  
Issue: 2  Issued: August 2012  

 
 
2.12 Intellectual Property Rights  

 

Any industrial or intellectual property derived on behalf of the Client shall belong to the Client on payment as 

agreed in the Contract. The copyright of any drafts or unmodified example forms or manuals or procedures 

belongs to Lincolnshire Chamber until explicitly adopted to the Client’s system. This is without prejudice to 

Lincolnshire Chamber’s right to continue to use the unmodified originals in any way whatsoever.  

 
3. Specified Service 
 
3.1 Overall Aim of Project 

To co-ordinate the processes involved in the putting up, and taking down, of festival lights in Spalding Town 

Centre.  

 
3.2  Overall goals of Project 

The goal of this agreement is to obtain mutual agreement for the service provision between the Service 

Provider(s) and Client. 

 

The objectives of this Agreement are to: 

• Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities. 

• Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the client. 

• Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support & delivery. 

  
3.3 Activity Details  

 

 The following Services are covered by this Agreement; 

• Liaise with Blachere for suitable date(s) to check, fix and test all electrical connections and make good 

within the town centre 

• Ensure Blachere complete the electricity consumption form and submit to GRID 

• Agree a date during November for the installation of festive lights 

• Agree for Blachere or their agents to be in attendance for the light switch-on 

• Agree for Blachere to take down all lights by the end of January and remove to their storage for testing 

and repairs 

• Liaise with Blachere for any repairs/replacements within 24 hours during December 

• Log all callouts. 

• Liaise with Festive Lighting for suitable date(s) to check, fix and test all electrical connections and make 

good along the riverbank. 

• Ensure Crozen complete and electricity consumption form and submit to GRID 

• Agree a date for the installation of festive lights  along the riverbank 

• Agree a date for annual maintenance with Crozen 

• Liaise with Crozen for any repairs/replacements within 24 hours. 

• Log all callouts. 

 

 
3.4 Membership 
 

The client agrees to maintain fully paid up membership of the Lincolnshire Chamber. 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 Page 5 of 6  
Issue: 2  Issued: August 2012  

 

 
3.5 Monitoring and Evaluation 
 

 This agreement should be reviewed at a minimum once per fiscal year; however, in lieu of a review during any 

period specified, the current Agreement will remain in effect. 

 

The Chamber contract manager ("the President of Spalding and District Chamber of Commerce") is responsible 

for facilitating an annual review of this agreement. Contents of this document may be amended as required, 

provided mutual agreement is obtained from the primary stakeholders and communicated to all affected parties. 

The Document Owner will incorporate all subsequent revisions and obtain mutual agreements / approvals as 

required. 

 

Review Periods: two reviews each year - one prior to the lights going up (to walk the route and note any 

changes to buildings or other hazards) and the other once the lights come down to discuss any issues that may 

have occurred when they were up, whilst they're fresh in people's minds. This also gives the opportunity (to all 

stakeholders) to revisit the terms of the SLA if something unexpected arises and the SLA needs re-drafting. . 

 

Next Review Dates: January and October 2013, a report will subsequently made to the Spalding Town Forum 

 
3.6 Service providers 
 

 The following Service Provider(s) will be used as the basis of the Agreement and represent the primary 

stakeholders associated with this SLA: 

 

Lights/service providers:  

 

 Blachere Illumination UK, Gladstone Place, Ladybank. Fife.   

KY15 7LB 

 

Festive Lighting Company,  The Festive Lighting Company, Blackmoor, West Buckland. Wellington. Somerset. 

TA21 9LQ – installed and maintained by Crozen UK, (Electrical & Lighting Specialists) 10 Stanley Close, 

Cantley, Norwich, Norfolk. NR13 3RW  

 
  
3.7 Other considerations 
 

Public Liability Insurance (PL) is the responsibility of the installers (service providers) during infrastructure 

changes and installation by both Blachere and Festive Lighting (£10million). As the owners of the lights the PL 

would be South Holland Districts Councils responsibility at all other times. 

 
4 Cost: 

Chamber's costs related to the management and delivery of this Service Level Agreement is 10% of the 

payment to both Blachere and Festive Lighting for the infrastructure improvements, installation and purchase of 

the new lights.  
 

The costs will be subject to the VAT rate appropriate at the time  

 

Invoices shall be sent for the attention of Nigel Burch, Senior Economic Development Officer. Cost may be 

renegotiated from time to time. 

  

 

Page 47



 Page 6 of 6  
Issue: 2  Issued: August 2012  

 

 

 

 

To be signed for and on behalf of the Client To be signed for and on behalf of Lincolnshire 
Chamber of Commerce & Industry 

 
 
Signature__________________________  Signature_____________________________ 
 
Name______________________________  Name  Simon Beardsley                      
    
Position in Company_________________  Position in Company CEO 
 
Date__________        Date__________   
 
 
 
Please return this form stating any special instructions for invoicing below. 
 
 

Page 48



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services 

and the Assistant Director Finance (S151) 
 
To:    Cabinet – 4 September 2012 
 
(Author:  Mark Finch, Assistant Director Finance (s151)) 
 
Subject: Financial Performance Quarter 1 2012-13 
 
Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial 

position of the Council as at 30 June 2012   
 

Recommendations: 
 
a) That the report and Appendix 1 be noted; and  
 
b)  That the recommendations detailed in Appendix 1 be approved. 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This report provides information on the forecast full year financial performance 

for 3 separate areas. 
 

• Revenue Budget incorporating Spalding Special Expenses and the Housing 
Revenue Account 

o Forecast revenue outturn for 2012-13 
o Significant variances 
o Un-allocated reserve levels 

• Capital 
o Forecast actuals against budget 
o Five Year Capital Programme and Financing 

• Treasury 
o Security of investments 
o Liquidity levels 
o Yield levels 
o Borrowing 

 
1.2 Where actions or decisions are required, these are detailed at the end of each 

section with options. 
 

2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed in appendix 1. 
 
2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in appendix 1 

 
 

Agenda Item 8.

Page 49



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall finances of the Council 

and to make the best use of resources available. 
 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINE 
 
4.1 To ensure that Members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial 

position and to act on any budget amendments required to reflect the latest 
forecasts of spend and income. 
 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 None 
  
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 None 
  
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 None 
 
5.4 Corporate Plan 
 
5.4.1 None 
 
5.5 Crime and Disorder 
 
5.5.1 None 
 
5.6 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights  
 
5.6.1 None 
 
5.7 Financial  
 
5.7.1 The report is of a financial nature and financial details are included within the 

appendix. 
 
5.8 Risk Management 
 
5.8.1 Risks are highlighted within the appendix 
  
5.9 Staffing  
 
5.9.1 None   
 

Page 50



5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation 
 
5.10.1 None 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 Spalding  
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers:- None  
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name/Post: Mark Finch – Assistant Director Finance 
Telephone Number: 01775 761161 
Email: mark.finch@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision:  
No 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 - Financial Report for the quarter ending 30 June 2012  
 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



   

South Holland District Council  

 

Financial Report for the quarter ending 30 June 2012  
 
 
This report has three sections 
 

• Section 1 – Revenue budget 

• Section 2 – Capital budget 

• Section 3 – Treasury update 

 

Section 1 - Revenue Budget 
 

General Fund 
 

The table below details the full year forecasted outturn against the approved budget for 
2012-13.  This is calculated by taking actuals up to 30 June 2012, together with assessments 
made by service managers about future levels of expenditure and income and incorporating 
identified budget cost pressures and savings. Significant variances to the approved budget 
are detailed in Table 2. 
 

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn   

 
 
 
Actual spend to date against budget = 24.2%  
 

Forecast outturn against budget = 101.3% (or £149,000 over-spend) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Place & 
Governance 

Commissioning 
 

Other budget 
items (table 3) 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 
Approved Budget Requirement 
– March Council 3,470 6,603 1,824 11,897 

 
Budget Virements approved to 
30 June 2012  (88) 88 - - 

 
Significant Variances identified 
to date (table 2) 61 64 24 149 

 
Estimated Full Year Outturn 3,443 6,755 1,848 12,046 

Page 53



   

Table 2 – Significant Variances identified to date 
 
 
Service/Budget 
Description 

(Under)/ 
Over Spend 

£’000 

 
 
Comments 

Building Control Fees 36 
Impact of current economic conditions leading to 
reductions in building control fees being received. 

Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax 
Administration Grant 53 Lower grant awarded than anticipated. 

Business Rates 20 
Projected outturn reflecting actual change in Business 
Rates poundage for Authority-owned buildings.  

Investment Income (35) 

Placing deposits with part-nationalised UK financial 
institutions for up to 1 year around 3% has enabled 
the Council to achieve returns well in excess of the 
target yield. 

Local Services Support 
Grant (30) Higher than anticipated award  

ICT 50 

Includes additional costs relating to GCSx connection 
and the LCC wide area network. Also application 
support and maintenance costs are still being incurred 
for the Chris21 and Wisdom DMS systems which were 
originally planned to be decommissioned in 11/12.   

New Homes Bonus 
Scheme (528) 

The Government funding or ‘bonus’ for new homes by 
match funding the additional council tax raised for new 
homes and empty properties brought back into use, 
with an additional amount for affordable homes. 

Transfer to Earmarked 
Reserves 528 

New Homes Bonus taken to the Council Tax reserve 
in advance of spending decisions. 

Staffing Costs (50) 

Estimated savings against the original budget taking 
into account direct salaries including on-costs and use 
of agency staff to the deliver Council Services. 

Capital Expenditure 
Financed from 
Revenue Resources 505 

 
 
Amended to reflect latest capital programme 

Transfers from 
Earmarked Reserves (416) 

Use of Earmarked Reserves to Finance Capital 
Expenditure. 

 16 Other budget variances. 

 149  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



   

Table 3 – Other Budget Items 
 
Other budget items are shown in the table below: 
 

 Approved 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Estimated 
Full Year 
Outturn 
£’000 

Parish Precepts 620 620 
Internal Drainage Board Levies 2,144 2,144 
Investment Income (50) (85) 
Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue 
Resources 

 
279 

 
784 

Non – Ringfenced Government Grant   
          Council Tax Freeze Grant (117) (117) 
          Local Services Support Grant  (48) (78) 
          New Homes Bonus Scheme - (528) 
Statutory Accounting Adjustments* (908) (908) 
Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 358 886 
Transfers from Earmarked Reserves (454) (870) 

 
Total 

 
1,824 

 
1,848 

 
* includes the reversal of depreciation charges for Council owned assets which are included 
within the directorate structure and the corporate provision for the repayment of debt. 

 
Table 4 – Unallocated Reserve Balances 
 
The table below shows the unallocated reserve balance as at 30 June. The balances within 
the table are funds that can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, for 
example, one-off invest to save projects and to meet expenditure arising from unexpected 
events. 

 
General Fund Reserves 
 
 

Unallocated 
Amount 
Available  
£’000 

Affordable Housing Reserve 118 

Capital Reserve 138 

Climate Change Reserve 42 

Council Tax Reserve 1,847 

Emergency Planning Reserve 10 

Insurance Reserve 237 

Organisational Development Reserve 488 

Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve 115 

  

Sub total  2,995 

  

Cumulative Working Balance 1,883 
 
Total General Fund unallocated reserves 4,878 

 
 
Actions/Decisions 
 
No actions or decisions to be made for quarter 1. 

Page 55



   

Spalding Special Expenses 
 
Expenditure relating to Spading Special expenses forms part of the Council’s General Fund 
budget and is included in Table 1 above. The approved budget for 2012/13 is £210,480 and 
is funded by Spalding Taxpayers, the Band D charge for the financial year being £23.29. A 
review of service net expenditure has been undertaken for quarter 1 by Service Managers. 
No significant variances were identified. 
 

Table 5 – Forecast Revenue Outturn   
 

 Estimated Full 
Year Outturn 

£’000 

 
Spalding Cemetery 

 
53,180 

Spalding Allotments 7,600 
Playing Fields at:  
      Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens) 13,990 
      Halley Stewart 29,620 
      Thames Road 13,470 
      Fulney Road 10,320 
      Monkshouse Lane 34,240 
Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme 8,500 
Christmas Decorations 18,910 
Contribution St Marys and St Nicolas Parish Church 750 
Administrative Support 4,640 
Bus Shelter Maintenance 370 
Play Areas 1,000 
Spalding Town Centre Promotion 4,230 
Crime Prevention 7,700 
Chairman’s Special Events 750 
 
Total Net Expenditure 

 
209,270 

 
The Council maintain an earmarked reserve relating to Spalding Special Expenses. Any 
unspent budget at the year end is transferred into the reserve which can then used to meet 
expenditure arising from unexpected events and to cover any future deficit which may arise. 
The current unallocated reserve balance is £63,000.  Any variations from the budget or use 
of the Spalding Special Expenses Reserve recommended from the Spalding Town Forum 
would need to be ratified by Cabinet/Council.  
 
At its meeting on the 8 August 2012 the Forum discussed the financing of the installation of 
10 granite boulders along Albion Street, Spalding at a total cost of £1,300, 
 
 

Actions/Decisions 
 
That the installation of granite boulders in Spalding, at a cost of £1,300, be funded from the 
Spalding Special Expenses Reserve. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 56



   

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
A report to Cabinet on 28 February 2012 sought approval for the 30 year Business Plan and 
included the impact of the final HRA Self Financing Debt Settlement.  Within the report the 
HRA surplus for the year was estimated at £1.833m.  In arriving at the surplus the interest 
rate assumption made for borrowing £67.456m at the end of March was 3.21% pa. This gave 
rise to an estimated interest liability of £2.165m. The actual rate of interest applicable at the 
date that the loan was taken was 3.48%. This has resulted in an increased annual liability of 
£182,000.  
 
The table below details the full year forecasted outturn against the approved budget for 
2012-13.   
 
Table 6 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 
Table 7 – Unallocated HRA Revenue Reserves 
 
The table below shows the unallocated reserve balance as at 30 June. The balances within 
the table are funds that can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, for 
example, one- off invest to save projects and to meet expenditure arising from unexpected 
events. 

 
Housing Revenue Account Reserves 
 
 

Unallocated 
Amount 

Available  
£’000  

Insurance Reserve 200 

  

Sub total  200 

  

Cumulative Working Balance  3,580 
 
Total HRA unallocated reserves 3,780 

 
 
Actions/Decisions 
 
No actions or decisions to be made for quarter 1. 
 

 

  2012-13 
£’000 

Comments 

Approved HRA surplus  (1,833)  

 
Significant Variances identified to 
date  

 

Increase in Interest Payable 
182 

Amendment to original budget to reflect actual 
rate of interest of 3.48% payable on Self 
Financing Debt. 

Capital Expenditure Financed from  
Revenue Resources 26 

 
 
Amended to reflect latest capital programme. 

Estimated Outturn (1,625) 

 

Page 57



   

Section 2 – Capital Budget 
 
This section reports on: 
 

• Progress against 2012-13 approved capital programme budget 

• Available capital finance for the period 2012-13 – 2016-17 

• Risks, issues and key messages 
 
Table 8 – Progress against 2012-13 approved capital programme 
 

 

Original 
Budget  
2012-13 
March 
Council 

Amended 
Budget  
2012-13  
as at July 

2012 
Actual @ 
30/06/2012 Forecast 

Forecast 
(under)/over 

spend 

£ £ £ £ £ 

Commissioning           

Priory Road 12 137 10 137 - 

South Holland Centre - 87 6 87 - 

Assets and Property - Other 93 242 6 242 - 

80% ICT schemes 199 344 37 344 - 

Housing Manager  - 790 1 790 - 

Private Sector Housing  391 434 37 434                       -   

Environmental Services Manger - 183 - 183 - 

Planning Manager - 135 24 135 - 

Total Commissioning 695 2,352 121 2,352 - 

Place and Governance           

Economic Development Manager - 290 - 290                       -   

Total Place and Governance - 290 - 290 - 

HRA           

Public Sector Housing           

Improvements & Enhancements of 
Council Dwellings 2,999 3,104 412 3,704 600 

Improvements to Waste Water 
Treatments 60 105 - 105 - 

Other - 18 - 18 - 

Disabled Adaptations - Public 375 375 - 375   

20% ICT schemes 50 86 9 86 - 

Total HRA 3,484 3,688 421 4,288 600 

 
TOTAL 4,179 6,330 542 6,930 600 

 
The increase in budget is due to projects from 2011-12 slipping into 2012-13 capital 
programme. 
 

• Spend against budget  8.56% 
 

• Forecast outturn  £6,330k or 100% 
 
The HRA Central heating budget has come under pressure this year given an unprecedented 
level of system failures requiring immediate replacement. In addition, a specific issue has 
been identified with a number of systems in some of the Council’s non-traditional dwellings. 

Page 58



   

Advice has been sought from Gas Safe (the replacement for CORGI) over how this issue can 
be resolved and, in some cases, remedial work will be required before the end of the 
calendar year. It is therefore necessary to request that funding of £600,000 be brought 
forward from the 2013/14 capital budget into 2012/13. 

Table 9 - Five Year Capital Programme 
 
The tables assume that all projects in the capital programme are released and fully spent as 
per the budget. 
 

  2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

         

Planned Capital Investment:       

Commissioning 2,352 609 550 700 585 

Place and Governance 290 - - - - 

HRA 3,688 5,695 5,695 5,695 5,695 

        

Sources of finance:       

  Capital Receipts (875) (195) (108) (89) (92) 

  Capital Grants and Contributions (3,995) (4,453) (3,728) (3,810) (3,893) 

  Direct Revenue Financing (1,460) (1,656) (2,189) (2,116) (2,075) 

  Unfunded Capital - - (220) (380) (220) 

 
- - - - - 

 
A wish list of future projects will be finalised as part of the 2013-14 budget setting process 
and we may need to address prioritisation of remaining resources, dependent on the level of 
new bids brought forward. 
 
Projects are managed through monthly monitoring reports and this section only reports on 
financial progress. 
 

Capital Resources 
 
To enable future years’ capital programmes to be delivered funding needs to be identified.  

 
 
Actions/Decisions 
 
To approve funding of £600,000 to be brought forward from the HRA 2013/14 central heating 
upgrade capital budget into 2012/13. 

Page 59



   

Section 3 – Treasury 
 
This section reports on: 

• Security, Liquidity and Yield of Investment portfolio 

• Current Debt Position 

• Risks, issues and key messages 
 

Security 
 
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. 
 
The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Sector which provides a 
maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating calculated for each 
financial institution. All investments held by the Council are within the recommended 
maximum duration. 
 

Counterparty Exposure

Lloyds TSB Bank

National Westminster

Nationwide BS

Barclays Bank

 
 
Liquidity 
 
Cash 
The Council’s average level of deposits for the first quarter was £9.98m. As at 30 June the 
Council had £3.8m instant access cash available to meet cash flow requirements.  The table 
below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity.  
 

Because of the limited 
number of counterparties 

available, deposits are 
currently spread amongst 

four institutions. 
 

To achieve further 
diversification an account 

is being opened with a 
conservatively managed 

money market fund. 

Page 60



   

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

£

C
a

ll

<
 1

 M
o

n
th

1
-3

 M
o

n
th

s

3
-6

 M
o

n
th

s

6
-9

 M
o

n
th

s

9
-1

2
 M

o
n

th
s

>
 1

2
 M

o
n

th
s

Maturity Period

Maturity Structure of Investments

 
Yield 
 
Budgeted Interest 2012-13   £65,000 
Forecast Interest Q1 2012-13   £16,250 
Actual Interest Q1 2012-13   £33,276 
Estimated Outturn 2012-13            £100,000* 
 
*Interest is apportioned between the General Fund and  
Housing Revenue Account 
 
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.87% 
Actual Yield Q1 2012-13     1.36% 

 
 
External Borrowing 
 
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its 
obligations under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a 
period of 50 years on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%.  
 
 
Actions/Decisions required 
 

o No actions or decisions to be made for quarter 1. 
 

Placing deposits with part-
nationalised UK financial 

institutions for up to 1 year 
around 3% has enabled the 

Council to achieve returns well 
in excess of the target yield. 

 

The percentage 
maturity 

structure of 
investments is: 

 
Call = 33% 
< 1 mth = 19% 
< 3 mths = 22% 
< 6 mths = Nil  
< 9 mths = 9% 
< 12 mths = 17% 
> 12 mths = Nil 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11.

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Spalding Town Centre Christmas lights
	Festive Lights Appendix A
	Festive Lights Appendix B

	8. Financial Performance Quarter 1 2012-13
	Quarter 1 Monitoring Report - Appendix 1

	11. Solar Photovoltaic Systems for Council House Stock

